MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE

SANFORD AIRPORT AUTHORITY
JANUARY 6, 2026
8:30 A.M.

PRESENT:

ABSENT:

STAFF PRESENT:

OTHERS PRESENT:

Kenneth Bentley, Chairman

Chick Gregg, Sr., Vice Chairman

Stephen P. Smith, Secretary/Treasurer
Benny Crosby

Jennifer T. Dane

Emory Green, Jr.

Frank loppolo, Jr.

William R. Miller

Richard Sweat

Brett Renton, Airport General Counsel
Mayor Art WOOdl’Uff, Clty Liaison (appeared telephonically)
Commissioner Andria Herr, County Liaison

Nicole Martz, President & CEO

George Speake, EVP & Deputy CEO

Shani Beach, Director of Properties & Exec. Initiatives Admin.
Chris Breese, Procurement Analyst

Judy Desrosiers, Property Manager

Stacy Entwistle, Sr., Director of Airline Services
Stephen Fussell, VP & Chief Strategy Officer
Tommy Gentry, Director of IT

Marc Gilotti, SAAPD Chief

Renato Goncalves, Asst. Director Airline Services
Nicholas Guido, VP of Finance/Chief Financial Officer
Lori Hunt, Executive Assistant

Katee Mathis, Finance Director

Danette Maybin, HR Director

Chris Metro, Financial Operations Manager

Bryon Morgan, SMS Director

Jeremy Owens, VP & Chief Development Officer
Rick Shea, VP of Operations & COO

Roberta Stanton, Director of Procurement
Jennifer Taylor, VP & Chief Commercial Officer
Raul Veizaga, Marketing Manager

Scott Carraro, Hanson
Gui Cunha, Seminole County Economic Dev.
Paul Fanelli, Avocet



Tracy Garcia, OEP

Czarina Harris

Joe Jerkins, FDOT

Brady Lessard, Economic Dev. Director, City of Sanford
Allison McCuddy, FDOT
Genean McKinnon

Luis Olivero

Paul Partyka, NAl Realvest
Lauren Rowe

Doug Saunders, C&S Company
Sam Siracus

Brian Smith

Greg Smith, Million Air

Scott Sturgill

Craig Sucich, RS&H

Robert Utsey, ZHA

Linda Walker

1. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

2. ADVERTISEMENT OF MONTHLY MEETING

Copies attached.

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING HELD

(DECEMBER 2, 2025)

Motion by Board Director Smith, seconded by Board Director Crosby, to approve the
minutes of the Regular Meeting held on December 2, 2025. Vote was taken, none
opposed. Motion passed unanimously.

4. LIAISON REPORTS

A. City of Sanford

Mayor Woodruff updated the Board regarding various City initiatives, including:

The success of Holiday season events in downtown Sanford.

The upcoming MLK Celebration scheduled for January 16-19.

A special ceremony regarding Goldsboro History and the presentation
of a Proclamation on February 9th.

The anticipated ribbon cutting for the Sanford Fire Station within the
next two months.

Progress on the catalyst site, noting that one block is nearing contract
status.



e Developments at the Mall site and the Comfort Inn, where furniture is
being installed for occupancy next month.

¢ An upcoming meeting with County Chairman Herr to restart the expired
Joint Planning Agreement.

e The County's relocation from three buildings in downtown Sanford and
the importance of those buildings' re-use.

e Strong industrial demand, including 100,000 sq. ft. of space under
contract on the westside.

Chairman Bentley inquired if the industrial space mentioned was located behind
Crooms Academy. Brady Lessard, City Economic Development Director, confirmed the
location and noted another property in the White Cedar area. Mr. Lessard mentioned
that the property the Mayor is referring to is an additional 100,000 sq.ft. space.

Chairman Bentley asked Mayor Woodruff to update the Board on the renovations at City
Hall.

Mayor Woodruff detailed renovations at City Hall, including the creation of a Welcome
Center in the Building Department area to streamline customer processes and the
addition of new upstairs offices to accommodate increased staff.

Chairman Bentley introduced Andria Herr, new Chairman of the Seminole County Board
of County Commissioners and Airport Liaison.

B. Seminole County

Commissioner Herr congratulated Stephen Fussell on his appointment to the Tourist
Development Council (TDC) and Raul Veizaga on his appointment to the Industrial
Development Authority (SCIDA), expressing appreciation for the Airport's volunteers.

Commissioner Herr further noted:

e The next TDC & TID meeting on January 15th will feature a
presentation by Pizzuti regarding the indoor sports complex.

* Record-breaking attendance is expected for January tourism events,
with over 11,000 attendees anticipated.

5. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC

None.



6. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Consider approval of the Ground transportation Pre-Arranged Permit for
January 1, 2026-December 31, 2026.

B. Consider approval of the second Amendment to extend Contract #SA-2024-
004 for Taxicab Concession Services with City Cab Company of Orlando LLC
and Yellow Cab Company of Orlando, LLC.

Motion by Board Director Smith, seconded by Board Director Gregg, to approve
Consent Agenda items A-B. Vote was taken, none opposed. Motion passed
unanimously.

7. PRESIDENT'S REPORT

¥

President Martz referenced her PowerPoint presentation, incorporated herein, and
requested Jeremy Owens present updates on the following topics:

» Runway 9L Rehabilitation: Lighting/Shoulder Pave remains — January 26
completion anticipated;

« Taxiway A Rehabilitation: Punchlist repair continues. Close out end of
January;

« Taxiway A Extension: 60% reviewed meeting 12/16, March bidding;

» Remote Parking Lot: Earthwork continues;

« Stormwater Pond Improvements: 100% review meeting 12/16. Bidding Q1;

- Midfield Water & Sewer Project: Finalizing plans. Bidding Q1/Q2;

* ARFF Truck 1,500 Gallon — (2) - FAA) 9/2026 ETA, FL 7/2026 ETA;

« Wildlife Project — Phase 1 (Twy B/B7) — Work Starts end of the month,
beginning of next;

« ALP Update with Narrative — Data collection continues. Awaiting CY25
operations for forecasting.

President Martz referenced the Airport Layout Plan (ALP) Update with Narrative,
emphasizing to the Board the critical nature of the project. She noted that ensuring the
accuracy of the data is paramount, as these figures will determine the future
requirements for Runway 18/36 and Runway 9-Center. President Martz stated the
objective is to provide the most comprehensive data possible to accurately reflect the
current traffic volume at the Airport.

Jeremy Owens further explained that the ALP Update serves as a primary driver for the
planned Capital Improvement Program (CIP); he confirmed that the data has been
finalized and verified.

Terminal Projects:

* Hudson Retail — 5 of the 6 retails are Complete;
» Generator Replacement (Admin/PBB) — Pre-Con later today;,

4



* Observation Deck - Initial phases complete;

* Elevator 10 (Welcome Center) Awaiting final inspections;

* Terminal Entry Painting — Finalizing bid review Friday. Schedule for later this
month;

* Column Inspection/Repair — Crosswalk canopy removal, replacement, and
repair starting this month.

President Martz clarified that the Column Inspection/Repair project is classified as
deferred maintenance. She specified that the crosswalk referenced by Jeremy Owens is
located at the entrance utilized by the Board of Directors. President Martz further noted
that this particular area had not been historically maintained by OSI to appropriate
standards.

Other:

* Building 310 Transformer — Submitting for permit;

* Building 310 Renovation/Remediation — 60% plans reviewed, Bid set
expected this month.

President Martz provided an update regarding the Building 310 Transformer project
associated with the University of Central Florida (UCF) lease. She noted that the current
estimates for the transformer are significantly higher than the initial projections, primarily
due to UCF's increased energy requirements and necessary building renovations.
President Martz reminded the Board that a budget amendment was previously
approved to accommodate the UCF facility upgrades; however, the item will be brought
back for further Board consideration once the final cost-sharing ratios are determined.

Board Director Smith requested clarification regarding the capacity of the proposed
transformer for the project.

Jeremy Owens responded that the project now entails a new 1,600-amp service to
accommodate UCF’s request for 1,000 amps. He explained that the upgrade allows the
Authority to improve the building’s infrastructure, transitioning from a single-phase
interior feed to a full three-phase system and increasing the total capacity from the
original 600 amps. Furthermore, the renovation includes the removal of the legacy
chiller and oil-boiler heating systems, which will be replaced by standard split-system
HVAC units on each floor. Jeremy Owens noted that because the Authority is benefiting
from these electrical infrastructure improvements, a comprehensive cost-share analysis
is currently being conducted.

Development:

Paul Partyka, NAl Realvest, Mr. Partyka updated the Board regarding Development &
Real Estate Activity: Robert Utsey, ZHA noted significant interest in MROs and aircraft
assembly. Mr. Utsey distributed a summary of significant economic development
proposals submitted by the Airport over the preceding three years. He noted that the list
includes active, confidential prospects, for which identities remain protected. Mr. Utsey

5



highlighted a concentrated interest in Maintenance, Repair, and Overhaul (MRO)
facilities, as well as traditional and electric aircraft assembly. He stated that the Airport’s
market exposure has increased significantly, noting that the facility is now well-
recognized by industry site selectors.

Mr. Utsey further presented a recap of the 2025 Orlando Economic Partnership (OEP)
metrics to provide context on the development lifecycle. He reported that out of
approximately 300 annual leads, 21 projects were successfully secured, 11 of which
involved the retention of existing local companies. He emphasized the active nature of
the economic development process and the triangulation of regional resources,
including the OEP, the Department of Commerce, Space Florida, Seminole County, and
the City of Sanford.

Additionally, Mr. Utsey briefed the Board on the OEP’s national site amplification
program. As part of this initiative, the prominent site selection firm Burns & McDonnell
was engaged to conduct a "mock" proposal process to evaluate the Airport's
competitiveness. Following a site visit by Burns & McDonnell, a debriefing session is
forthcoming. Mr. Utsey then introduced Tracy Garcia, OEP, to provide further details to
the Board.

Tracy Garcia, Senior Director of Economic Development Strategic Initiatives with the
Orlando Economic Partnership (OEP), briefed the Board on the Development Initiative
for Regional Transformation (DIRT) program. She explained that site readiness has
become a critical focus for economic development organizations nationwide due to the
increasing difficulty of securing development-ready parcels. Ms. Garcia noted that
available land often faces significant infrastructure or logistical impediments that delay
or prevent immediate utilization.

She detailed the role of Burns & McDonnell in performing a site analysis, similar to a
SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats) analysis, to pinpoint
specific obstacles.

President Martz provided an update regarding the CE Avionics lease transition noting
from ground lease terms to facility lease terms.

President Martz also reminded the Board that the business has been sold to a new
entity. She noted that the Authority has been in active coordination with the new
ownership, following a recent lease assignment and clarification of terms previously
presented to the Board. Discussions continue regarding the utilization of the demolition
pad (the "boneyard") to determine the total acreage required. President Martz reminded
the Board of the current three-month interim agreement, noting it is entering its third
month, with a formal lease expected for consideration at the next meeting.

Furthermore, President Martz reported that Avocet Parts has vacated the warehouse

facility on the ramp as of year-end. She noted that while one aircraft remains on-site to
be addressed, the Authority intends to relocate Ground Support Equipment (GSE)

6



operations into the vacated warehouse. This transition will facilitate the removal of GSE
operations from the Cargo Building, thereby vacating high-value real estate. President
Martz emphasized that this relocation will allow the Authority to market the Cargo
Building more effectively, as the increased availability of space makes the facility more
viable for substantial cargo operations.

Board Director loppolo requested clarification from Robert Utsey regarding the status of
the development projects presented. He inquired whether the seven projects currently
listed represented the remaining active prospects from the original twelve identified.
Board Director loppolo specifically noted project statuses labeled as “on hold” or “under
consideration by the Florida Department of Commerce (FDOC)” and requested further
detail regarding the specific factors contributing to these delays.

Tracy Garcia clarified that many projects are channeled through the Florida Department
of Commerce (FDOC), and often the specific reasons for a project being placed "on
hold" are not disclosed by the client to the FDOC. She noted that because the OEP
frequently lacks direct communication with these clients, they can only report the
information provided by the state. Ms. Garcia emphasized that the 300 leads cited were
vetted opportunities rather than casual inquiries.

Regarding the broader economic landscape, Ms. Garcia provided a comparative
analysis of FDOC fiscal year 2024/2025 targets. She concluded by stating that
economic development is a high-volume process, where a large influx of leads is
necessary to yield a small percentage of successfully completed projects due to various
external factors.

Board Director loppolo expressed his appreciation for the context provided but clarified
that his inquiry was focused on identifying potential commonalities among projects that
were either lost or placed on hold. He questioned whether there were specific
infrastructure or service offerings lacking at the Airport that, if available, could have
successfully converted those prospects. Board Director loppolo requested a
determination on whether the Authority possesses the necessary "tools" within its
economic development toolkit to secure such projects. He further inquired if any lessons
had been learned over the preceding months regarding the five inactive projects and
those awaiting follow-up that would identify specific resources needed to successfully
close future agreements.

Tracy Garcia responded that while each project presents unique requirements, she
identified the primary common denominator among recent inquiries as being the
substantial electrical power demand. She noted that while the Airport currently
maintains a strong relationship and sufficient power availability with Florida Power &
Light (FPL), the power specifications for incoming projects have increased significantly
compared to requirements seen in previous years.

Discussion ensued relative to the capabilities to serve power needs on Airport
properties.



Board Director loppolo reiterated his concerns regarding the conversion rate of
development leads, noting that of the twelve projects initially identified, five had been
removed and the remainder were on hold. He emphasized his ongoing inquiry regarding
whether the Authority possesses the necessary "tools" to close these agreements and
requested an analysis of the common factors leading to unselected proposals.

President Martz explained that the selection process requires a "balancing act" between
the required investment and the anticipated return. She highlighted the competitive
disadvantage of the State of Florida regarding the lack of large-scale economic
development incentive pools available in other states. She asserted that maintaining
visibility with national site selectors provides inherent value, even when a specific
project is not secured, as it ensures the Airport remains a consideration for future
opportunities.

Board Director loppolo clarified that while he recognizes the value of visibility, his
primary objective is the successful execution of closed deals. He requested a clearer
understanding of the Authority's prioritization strategy to better appreciate which
projects are considered appropriate and viable.

Tracy Garcia, OEP, offered to meet with Board Director loppolo individually to review
past projects and provide specific data on the factors that influenced those selection
outcomes.

Board Director Miller expressed appreciation for the discussion and noted that
increasing power requirements represent a significant national challenge for many
jurisdictions. He reiterated his long-standing concerns regarding the adequacy of the
underground infrastructure provided by the City of Sanford and requested confirmation
of a comprehensive plan to address future capacity needs. Board Director Miller
emphasized that a lack of infrastructure readiness often results in prospective clients
terminating negotiations. While acknowledging the ongoing coordination with Florida
Power & Light (FPL), he requested a more in-depth analysis of the steps being taken to
satisfy the technical requirements identified by the development consultants.

Board Director loppolo clarified that his inquiries were intended as strategic oversight
rather than criticism, noting that the current quality of reporting and development
opportunities has improved significantly during his tenure. He emphasized the
importance of ensuring the staff has all necessary resources to maintain proper
expectations for success. Board Director loppolo recalled previous assessments where
seven specific properties were identified as development-ready with established
infrastructure and drainage plans; he inquired as to where the Authority should prioritize
future capital investments to restore or expand that status.

Commissioner Herr requested clarification on whether the forthcoming Burns &

McDonnell report would address these infrastructure concerns. She further inquired if
the firm would be presenting their findings directly to the Board. Tracy Garcia, OEP,

8



responded that the initial debriefing would be conducted with President Martz and staff
for subsequent dissemination to the Board.

Board Director loppolo inquired if the Burns & McDonnell analysis would incorporate the
specific list of twelve active and inactive projects currently being tracked by the
Authority. Ms. Garcia clarified that the firm’s analysis is independent of that specific list.
Board Director loppolo requested that the Board receive both the consultant's report
and a staff analysis of the tracked projects to ensure a comprehensive overview.

Robert Utsey, ZHA, noted that timing is often the decisive factor in site selection; if the
Authority cannot provide immediate infrastructure assurances, prospects frequently
move to alternative sites. He stated that Burns & McDonnell's global experience would
provide the Authority with the necessary data to make informed decisions regarding
infrastructure investment and opportunity costs.

Board Director Sweat suggested that, in addition to the SWOT analysis of current
opportunities, the Authority should conduct a retrospective review of failed projects. He
emphasized that illuminating the specific reasons for past project failures would provide
valuable insight for future strategic planning.

President Martz expressed her appreciation for the Board's feedback and continued her
report by announcing a leadership transition within the Finance Department. She
introduced Nicholas Guido as the newly appointed Vice President of Finance/Chief
Financial Officer, noting that he commenced his duties on January 5.

President Martz extended formal commendations to Katee Mathis for her service as
interim CFO, acknowledging her significant contributions while managing dual roles for
nearly a year. She expressed gratitude for Ms. Mathis’s dedication and performance
during this period, noting that she will now return to her primary role as Finance
Director. President Martz emphasized that Mr. Guido enters the organization with a
strong support system and expressed confidence in his success given the foundational
work and ongoing support provided by Katee Mathis. Following the introduction, Katee
Mathis proceeded with the scheduled financial update.

Katee Mathis thanked the Board for supporting her and challenging her and presented
the November 2025 Financial Dashboard, reporting that both passenger traffic and air
traffic movements significantly exceeded initial fiscal forecasts. This operational growth
resulted in a corresponding outperformance in total revenue for the period. Ms. Mathis
advised the Board that the original budget was prepared under a high degree of fiscal
conservatism, specifically, it did not account for the operational expenses or revenue
associated with the launch of Arajet's service.

Furthermore, the Authority utilized conservative growth percentages regarding Allegiant
Air's passenger volume due to market volatility during the budget development phase.
In light of these favorable trends, Ms. Mathis informed the Board that staff intends to
present a Mid-Year Budget Amendment in the March/April timeframe. This schedule will

9



allow the Finance Department to incorporate Allegiant's finalized seasonal flight
schedule and establish a more reliable performance baseline for Arajet operations,
ensuring the budget reflects the most current operational realities.

President Martz added that while the Authority had budgeted for a 4.5% growth rate for
Allegiant, actual performance has consistently exceeded those figures. She noted that
recent performance trends are highly encouraging and stated that George Speake
would provide detailed operational data regarding Arajet’s strong performance later in
the President’s Report.

Board Director loppolo inquired if we made the 3M passenger mark.

Katee Mathis responded that the current report reflects November data and the year-to-
date total stood at 2.8 million passengers. She expressed confidence that the 3,000,000
mark would be reached by year-end, noting that the finalized figures would be
presented by Mr. Guido. She further detailed that November saw 234,000 passengers,
a 33% increase over the same period in the previous year. This significant variance was
attributed to the restoration of services following weather-related disruptions in late
October and early November last year, specifically the resumption of operations at the
Asheville regional hub.

A discussion ensued regarding passenger volume and current parking capacity
management. President Martz informed the Board that the Authority is currently
developing an off-site parking facility with a capacity of over 800 spaces, which is
anticipated to be operational within the next year. She clarified that while this facility will
provide significant relief, the use of overflow parking will likely remain necessary during
peak periods. President Martz advised that the performance of the new remote lot
should be evaluated before considering further expansions, noting that building
additional capacity for only a few peak months may not be fiscally prudent. She
informed the Board that a broader discussion regarding parking strategy, including
tiered pricing for the remote lot to account for operational and shuttling costs, will be
presented in the coming months.

Further discussion was held regarding the management of the remote facility and the
implementation of parking fees for current grass overflow areas. It was noted that the
remote lot will be integrated into the existing parking management system, ensuring
consistent rate collection across the 800 new spaces. The Board also discussed the
potential for future expansion of the remote lot from 800 to 1,200 spaces depending on
demand.

Ms. Mathis continued the financial presentation, noting that Air Traffic Movements
(ATMs) closely mirrored the upward passenger trends. She reported that total revenue
is currently 16% over budget. Ms. Mathis reiterated that these figures do not include
Arajet operations and reflect the conservative growth estimates originally assigned to
Allegiant Air. She highlighted that terminal revenue distribution is currently trending just
under $5 million.

10



In response to Board inquiries regarding the conservative nature of the initial Allegiant
growth forecasts, President Martz explained that the decision was based on general
industry volatility. She further clarified that the final flight schedules for Allegiant were
not available at the time the budget was finalized, necessitating a more cautious fiscal
approach.

George Speake provided context regarding the Authority’s conservative approach to
Allegiant Air's passenger projections. He explained that while Allegiant’s initial forecasts
were significantly high, the airline subsequently reduced those figures on multiple
occasions. He noted that Allegiant's scheduling and capacity decisions are highly
reactive to real-time industry conditions; for instance, the contraction of Spirit Airlines
influenced Allegiant’s decision to enter the Atlantic City market to preempt competitors.
Mr. Speake clarified that because the airline’s projections remain a moving target based
on broader industry volatility, the Authority elected to adopt a conservative baseline to
mitigate risk.

President Martz added that due to concerns that Allegiant’s initial figures were overly
optimistic, the Authority had proactively planned for a mid-year true-up of both revenues
and expenses. She noted that while expenses have increased, the growth has not been
as significant as the revenue gains, which is a positive fiscal indicator. President Martz
informed the Board that the upcoming budget amendment will incorporate Allegiant’s
finalized flight schedule, allowing for a more accurate projection of the fiscal year's
conclusion and a verification of current performance trends.

* Operating Revenues: Terminal revenue reached $5 million, representing a
favorable variance of approximately $820,000 against the budget. Ms. Mathis noted
that 44% of this increase is attributable specifically to parking revenue,
demonstrating the significant fiscal benefit of transitioning parking operations in-
house. The remaining 56% of the revenue surplus was derived from passenger-
dependent sources, including concessions, rental car royalties, and ground
handling fees.

Board Director loppolo requested an update regarding the calculation of the revenue
per passenger.

Ms. Mathis stated that the Finance Department is currently developing those metrics.
President Martz further clarified that while the Authority is tracking revenue per
enplanement, current data sets require further refinement. She noted that the
implementation of the new financial management system will provide the necessary
analytical tools to generate more precise data.

Board Director loppolo requested that, upon completion, the Authority’s performance
metrics be presented alongside industry standards to facilitate a comparative analysis.
President Martz concurred, noting that the report would include both revenue per
enplanement and cost per enplanement (CPE). She emphasized that the Airport’s

11







































